

Unemployed Workers Project Toolkit

Updated: May 2022

Table of Contents

Sample Forms	····· 3
Request a Hearing Form	
Request to Reopen Matter Form	4
Notice to Appeal Form and Request for a Transcript	
Q&A: Hearings Before Unemployment Insurance Administrative Law Judges	6
Why Have a Hearing?	6
What Are the Appropriate Bases for Challenging a UI Determination?	6
What Impact Does This Have on My UI Account?	
How Do I Request a Hearing?	7
Who is the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ)?	7
Where is the Hearing Held?	7
Who Can Attend the Hearing?	8
What Type of Witnesses May Testify?	8
How Can I Prepare for the Hearing?	9
Can I Delay or Miss the Hearing?	9
Must I Appear in Person?	
Who or What Should I Bring to the Hearing?	11
What if I Can't Get the Evidence or Witnesses I Need?	
Can I Request a Language Interpreter?	12
Can I Request a Reasonable Accommodation?	
How Will the ALJ Conduct the Hearing and What Are My Rights at the Hearing?	
What Happens After the Hearing?	
What if I Disagree with the ALJ's Decision?	
What Happens When a Decision is Appealed?	
If the ALJ Decision is in My Favor, Can Someone Else Appeal to the Board?	
Is Another Appeal Available after the Board makes its Decision?	
5 Tips for an Unemployment Insurance Hearing: Representing Yourself Pro Se	
Link to Video: How to Prepare for a Hearing	
Terms Used in Unemployment Insurance Hearings and Appeals	18

Sample Forms

Request a Hearing Form

STATE OF NEW YORK UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE DIVISION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE SECTION		
In the Matter of the Claim for Benefits Made By	NOTICE OF APPEARANCE &	
	REQUEST FOR HEARING	
S.S. # XXX-XX		
disagree with the DOL Determination and w	ent my case before an Administrative Law Judge. I rould like to present my case before an impartial request that copies of all notices and decisions	
(Your address)		
Please note that I am not available onunavailability in the next 45 days).	(list dates of	
Your name		
Dated:		

Request to Reopen Matter Form

[DATE]

Via Regular Mail and Facsimile to [Hearing Office Fax #]

ALJ [Name]
Unemployment Insurance Appeal
Board Administrative Law Judge
Section
[Use Hearing Office Address from Default Decision]

RE: Request to Reopen and Notice of Appearance [Your Name] ALJ Case Number: 022-___

Dear Administrative Law Judge [NAME of Last Judge],

I request to reopen ALJ Case Number 022-[_____]. I was previously unable to proceed with my hearing because [I did not have representation, or other reason if applicable.]

Please send all future correspondence regarding this matter to me at the address below.

Please do not schedule the hearing on [insert any specific dates and times of unavailability over the next two months].

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Sincerely,

[Name/Address]

cc: New York State Department of Labor Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board

P.O. Box 15131

Albany, NY 12212-5126 Fax: (518) 402-6208 Tel: (518) 402-0205

Notice to Appeal Form and Request for a Transcript

(Date)
Sent via facsimile to: 518-402-6208
Unemployment Insurance Appeal
Board
P.O. Box 15126
Albany, New York 12212-5126
NOTICE OF APPEAL AND TRANSCRIPT REQUEST
RE: Claimant
A.L.J. Case#:
To Whom It May Concern:
I am appealing ALJ Decision [No], which [INSERT SPECIFIC DETERMINATION] (If decision covers several issues and you are only appealing in part, note which issues you are appealing).
I request the production of a written transcript, the audio recording and the exhibits from the ALJ hearing(s). Please notify me when the transcript, audio recording and documents are ready and email the electronic copy to: (email address) so I may prepare a brief.
Due to the need for the transcript, I request an extension of time to file the brief until 20 days after the date we are notified that the transcript is ready, pursuant to 12 NYCRR § 463.1(f) (4).
We also reserve the right to submit a reply to any briefs, statements or documents submitted by another party to this appeal within 12 days after such materials are mailed to us, pursuant to 12 NYCRR \S 463.1(f) (5).
Thank you for your attention to this matter. Sincerely,
[NAME]
Attachment: Notice of Decision, ALJ Case No

Q&A: Hearings Before Unemployment Insurance Administrative Law Judges (ALJs) (Updated May 2022)

Adapted from the New York State Department of Labor's "Hearings Before Unemployment Insurance Administrative Law Judges" dated April 2014

Employers and claimants have a right to a hearing under the Unemployment Insurance (UI) Law to contest determinations made by the Department of Labor. The rules of the hearing process apply equally to all parties. The following are questions and answers designed to acquaint employers with the process and answer the most commonly asked questions about these hearings.

Why Have a Hearing?

Unemployment insurance benefits are intended to be paid to workers who lose employment through no fault of their own. You may not agree with the Department of Labor's determination. Under the law you have a right to request a hearing before an impartial Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) at no cost to you if you are dissatisfied with any determination made by the Department of Labor as to the eligibility for benefits of a claimant who is or was your employee, or your business' liability for contributions under the Unemployment Insurance Law. This may include whether an individual is an employee or an independent contractor.

What Are the Appropriate Bases for Challenging a UI Determination?

There are several bases upon which an employer can challenge a Department of Labor determination that a claimant is entitled to benefits.

- 1. The claimant lost the employment through misconduct in connection with the employment
- 2. The claimant voluntarily separated from the employment without good cause.
- 3. The claimant without good cause refused an offer of new employment for which s/he is reasonably fitted by training and experience.
- 4. The claimant is not totally unemployed.
- 5. The claimant is not ready, willing and able to work.
- 6. The claimant is not capable of employment.

What Impact Does This Have on My UI Account?

Employers are responsible for paying for the costs of UI benefits made to their former employees through employer contributions. Your participation in the process is critical in determining whether a claimant qualifies for benefits. An employer's failure to provide timely and sufficiently detailed information about a former employee's eligibility can result in an improper overpayment. This can impact your contribution rate the following year as well as additional costs for other employers. You can do the most to reduce your costs by actively providing information at the time a claim is filed. If you feel that a determination is incorrect, you can request a hearing. If the ALJ rules in your favor after a hearing, benefits paid to the claimant

(your former employee) will be discontinued and you may be relieved of charges. You will not, however, be relieved of charges if you failed to respond timely or adequately to the Department's initial notice of potential charges or later requests for information.

How Do I Request a Hearing?

If you disagree with the determination, you may request a hearing by sending a letter to NYS Department of Labor, P.O. Box 5131, Albany, NY 12212-5131. Your request must be postmarked within 30 days of the date on the Notice of Determination.

If the determination found a claimant eligible, in your request you must describe the specific facts or events which are the grounds for denying benefits to the claimant, including dates. If you fail to provide specific grounds or later wish to raise a different basis for your hearing, you must demonstrate a good cause reason before you will be permitted to present evidence on those new issues.

The claimant can also request a hearing to object to any determination of the Department of Labor to deny him/her benefits or based on the fact that s/he was determined to be an independent contractor.

Who is the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ)?

The ALJ is an impartial (fair) decision-maker whose judgment is independent of the Department of Labor. The ALJ will conduct the hearing, obtain sworn testimony under oath and admit documents into evidence, carefully review all the facts, apply the law and make a decision in writing about whether the claimant is entitled to UI benefits or, if the case involves liability for contributions, whether your business is liable for contributions.

Where is the Hearing Held?

Hearings Related to a Claimant's Eligibility for Benefits

As of May 2022, all hearings continue to be held over the telephone. Your hearing notice will list the day and time that the ALJ will call you, along with the phone number they will dial. You must review closely to ensure that the phone number is correct. Closely monitor your phone starting at least 15 minutes prior to the hearing time.

Prior to the Covid-19 Pandemic and possibly at some point after May 2022, in the metropolitan New York City area, hearings relating to a claimant's eligibility for benefits were generally held at the UIAB hearing site that is closest to the location where the claimant regularly went to work. In upstate New York, hearings were generally held at the UIAB hearing site that is closest to the claimant's address. For claimants located more than 60 minutes from an assigned hearing location in upstate New York or more than 90 minutes from an assigned hearing location in Metropolitan New York City, a telephone hearing would generally be scheduled for you. Since the

UIAB is required to schedule and decide cases within prescribed time periods, some cases that would normally be scheduled as in-person hearings may be scheduled as telephone hearings.

Hearings Related to an Employer's Liability for Contributions

Prior to the Covid-19 Pandemic and possibly at some point after May 2022, hearings relating to an employer's liability for contributions were generally held at the UIAB hearing location that is closest to the employer's business address. If you are located more than 60 minutes from an assigned hearing location in upstate New York or more than 90 minutes from an assigned hearing location in Metropolitan New York City, then a telephone hearing will be scheduled for you. Since the UIAB is required to schedule and decide cases within prescribed time periods, some cases that would normally be scheduled as in-person hearings may be scheduled as telephone hearings.

Who Can Attend the Hearing?

You have the right to produce witnesses, and all witnesses should attend the hearing. The employer can represent itself or have an attorney or representative also present. An attorney or other representative is not required. However, if you want an attorney or other representative to assist you in presenting the case, you must make those arrangements. The UIAB does not recommend or assign attorneys to cases. The claimant can attend and may also either represent him/herself or have an attorney or representative at the hearing. The Department of Labor is a party to all hearings whether or not it actually has a representative present at the hearing.

What Type of Witnesses May Testify?

Firsthand witnesses, in other words witnesses who actually saw or heard the events that are alleged to be grounds for denying benefits to the claimant, are more important in presenting your case than witnesses who only were told by someone else about what happened (hearsay). Firsthand witnesses should be made available to participate in the hearing. Although both firsthand and hearsay witness testimony are permitted at the hearing and will be considered by ALJs, firsthand testimony is generally given more weight than hearsay testimony. If you do not produce a firsthand witness, the firsthand evidence presented by the opposing party may be given greater consideration than your evidence. If the hearing is scheduled to be held in person and there is a compelling business reason why your firsthand witness is not available to attend the hearing you can either ask for an adjournment or offer to have the witness participate by telephone. The person you send to the hearing should inform the ALJ of your witness' unavailability at the beginning of the hearing. If you have a compelling business reason why the firsthand witness cannot attend in person, the judge will permit him/her to testify by telephone.

Example 1: The Human Resources Director terminates an employee as a result of an oral report by the plant foreperson. **The plant foreperson is the firsthand witness.** The Human Resources Director can only give hearsay testimony because his/her knowledge comes only from what the plant foreperson told him/her.

Example 2: Same facts as Example 1, and the business has a deadline to produce a certain amount of goods for a customer by close of business on the day of the hearing and the plant foreperson is the

only one who can oversee that project. Since the witness is available by telephone and an adjournment is not necessary to obtain his/her testimony, the ALJ will permit the plant foreperson to testify over the telephone.

How Can I Prepare for the Hearing?

You should gather and prepare to submit all documentation relevant to the claims at issue in the hearing. You will be given an opportunity to present these documents at the hearing and offer them to the ALJ for admission into evidence. See the section below titled **Who or What Should I Bring to the Hearing for further information**.

You have the right to review the case file prior to the hearing. For further information on how to do this and for any other hearing-related questions, contact the UIAB's ALJ section at **1-877-880-3322.**

You can also visit our website **http://uiab.ny.gov** to review Article 18 of the Labor Law, which contains the Unemployment Insurance Law, to read the Rules of the UIAB and to use the Searchable Decision feature to find and review Appeal Board decisions that may be similar to your case.

You can also find information for businesses on the New York State Department of Labor website **http://labor.ny.gov.**

Can I Delay or Miss the Hearing?

Federal regulations require that unemployment insurance cases are completed within strict time periods. For this reason, whether you or the claimant requested the hearing, it is very important that you attend the first scheduled hearing date. The first scheduled hearing date can be adjourned (postponed) only if you or your representative have a previously scheduled legal proceeding that must be attended, and you notify the hearing office of this obligation in advance.

Once the initial hearing is completed, any subsequent scheduled hearing date may be adjourned by the judge upon a party's showing of good cause.

If you cannot attend a hearing, notify the ALJ Section as soon as possible, and provide an explanation of why you cannot attend. The address, telephone and fax numbers appear on the Notice of Hearing. Any correspondence related to your case should include the ALJ case number that is listed on the Notice of Hearing.

Party Requesting a Hearing Fails to Appear

If a party requests a hearing and fails to appear for that hearing (e.g., a claimant requests a hearing to dispute the denial of benefits), the underlying determination will be adopted by the ALJ by default decision. To the extent that the defaulting party wishes to challenge the decision by reopening the case, the defaulting party must make a request to "reopen". A request to reopen will not be

granted absent a showing of good cause for the defaulting party's non-appearance. A hearing will be scheduled to decide whether the request will be granted. The party responding to a request to reopen has the right to appear and offer evidence on whether there is good cause to reopen the case.

Party Fails to Appear in Response to an Adversary's Request for a Hearing

If a party fails to appear for a hearing requested by an adversary, the moving party will be afforded an opportunity to prove its case in the non-appearing party's absence. A favorable decision for the moving party will only be issued if that party proves its case. To the extent that the moving party obtains a favorable ruling, and the non-appearing party wishes to challenge the decision by requesting to reopen the case, the non-appearing party must make a request to "reopen". A hearing will be scheduled to decide whether the request will be granted. A request to reopen will not be granted absent a showing of good cause for the non-appearing party's absence. The party responding to a request to reopen has the right to appear and offer evidence on the issue of good cause to reopen the proceeding.

Instructions on How to Make an Application to Re-Open

Instructions on how to make a request to reopen are on the back of the decision. In your request, you must provide the hearing office with the dates that you are not available to attend a hearing during the next 45 days. The hearing officer will make every effort to avoid scheduling the hearing on the dates identified.

Upon receipt of your request, a hearing will be scheduled. In order to protect your rights, you should produce a firsthand witness who can testify under oath about the reason why you did not appear at the prior hearing. A request to reopen will be granted only if the ALJ finds there was good cause to miss the prior hearing. Some examples of good cause are:

- 1. An emergency or some other compelling reason beyond your control prevented you from attending the hearing.
- 2. You want but have been unable to obtain an attorney despite reasonable attempts to get one.
- 3. You, your witness or necessary documents were unavailable for reasons beyond your control.
- 4. The scheduled hearing fell on a day of religious observance
- 5. Severe weather conditions.

If the ALJ finds there was good cause for your failure to appear, s/he will reopen the case and decide all issues pertinent to the prior hearing.

Limitation on Requests to Reopen

Whether or not you asked for a hearing, it is very important that you attend the hearing when scheduled in order to protect your rights. If you fail to attend a scheduled hearing, and you subsequently request a hearing to re-open the case, a hearing will be scheduled. If you fail to appear at the hearing to re-open, and make another request for a hearing, the case will not be automatically scheduled. Rather, your request to re-open will be referred to the Appeal Board, who will review the application on the papers and grant another hearing (a) upon a showing of good cause for the failing to appear or proceed at the prior hearings, or (b) if in the Board's discretion, a hearing on the issue of good cause for failure to appear is warranted.

Must I Appear in Person?

If a hearing is scheduled to be held in person, you should attend in person and it is in your best interest to do so. If you have a substantial hardship that prevents you from appearing in person at a scheduled hearing, such as a documented health reason for inability to travel to the hearing site or a last-minute unforeseen and compelling reason preventing you from attending in person, notify the ALJ Section as soon as you are aware of the problem. You will be notified as to whether you will be allowed to participate by telephone or if the hearing will be rescheduled to a later date. Also, see the section listed titled Where is the Hearing Held for more information.

Who or What Should I Bring to the Hearing?

You should bring any firsthand witnesses, as well as any papers you have received from the Department of Labor and any papers or other evidence that will support your position such as written work rules or policies, contracts, letters, emails, pay stubs, arbitration decisions, warnings, and investigative reports relating to the case. If you receive instructions in the hearing notice about specific evidence needed for the hearing, you should produce that evidence at the hearing. You will need to bring additional copies for the other parties at the hearing or, in the case of a telephone hearing, provide copies to the parties by alternative means in advance of the hearing (e.g., mail, fax or email). You can request that the ALJ enter such documents into the record. You can also request that the ALJ enter into the record a document that is already in the case file. Documents in the case file are not part of the record unless the ALJ makes them part of the record. The documents that you submit for the record must be relevant to the issue to be decided, and the ALJ will decide questions of relevancy. See example below.

Example: The issue in the case is the claimant's alleged insubordination - failure to start machinery at 11 a.m. on January 15, 2014, as instructed, so that an order could be filled on time. A written record of the daily order sheet posted in the employer's office is relevant to the issue. A memorandum from the general manager to the claimant citing the claimant's failure to check the quality of an order four months earlier would not be relevant to the issue. The foreperson who could testify that the claimant failed to start a machine six months ago and an order was spoiled would not be a relevant witness because the earlier incident involved poor work performance, not the insubordination at issue in the hearing.

What if I Can't Get the Evidence or Witnesses I Need?

While, as stated above, the first scheduled hearing date can be adjourned only if you or your representative have a previously scheduled legal proceeding that must be attended and notice of this obligation is provided to the hearing officer in advance, other justifications for adjournments are available for all subsequent hearings. For example, if you need but do not have enough time to obtain a witness, document, or other evidence that will help you prove your case, contact the hearing office in advance of the hearing to explain why the witness or other evidence is necessary and cannot be produced on the scheduled day for the hearing. The ALJ has the authority to adjourn the case in advance and will inform you if the hearing is to be postponed. To the extent that you appear at a hearing (initial hearing or a subsequent hearing) and seek an adjournment at that time, the ALJ may

issue a decision granting you leave to apply to reopen the case when the witness or evidence is available.

Subpoenas

If you know that a witness, document, or other evidence is needed for the hearing but is not under your control, appear at the hearing and ask the ALJ for a subpoena which is a legal document that orders the production of the evidence. The hearing may still proceed and the ALJ may receive the testimony and evidence that can be taken that day. If the ALJ grants the request for a subpoena, the ALJ will then continue the hearing to another date so that the evidence can be produced. You should be prepared to provide the name and address of the witness or the location of the document(s).

If you have a witness who is willing to testify but cannot for good reason, come to the hearing in person and request that the ALJ permit the witness to testify by telephone.

Employers and claimants have the same rights.

Can I Request a Language Interpreter?

Yes. If you have difficulty reading, speaking or understanding English, notify the ALJ Section to request a language interpreter. The UIAB will provide one for you. You should request an interpreter in advance of the hearing.

Can I Request a Reasonable Accommodation?

If you or your witnesses have a disability, a reasonable accommodation will be made to allow you to participate in the hearing. You should request a reasonable accommodation in advance of the hearing by contacting the Principal or Senior ALJ at the office at which the hearing is scheduled to be held. The name will appear at the top of the Notice of Hearing.

How Will the ALJ Conduct the Hearing and What Are My Rights at the Hearing?

During the hearing, the ALJ will:

- a. Make an opening statement identifying all persons present, describing how the hearing will proceed and outlining the issues and the rights of the parties;
- b. Take testimony from all parties under oath or affirmation;
- c. Question parties and witnesses to obtain the necessary facts;
- d. Allow cross-examination and assist parties who have difficulty in asking questions of witnesses;
- e. Rule on which documents or testimony may be admitted into evidence;
- f. Rule on any requests to issue subpoenas for relevant records and for persons to appear to testify;
- g. Permit parties to use documents from the case file in presenting their case;

- h. Give parties the opportunity to review and comment on documents that may be made part of the record; and
- i. Give parties an opportunity to make a statement at the end of the testimony.

All testimony is recorded.

During the hearing, the ALJ may decide to consider new facts that were not mentioned in the Notice of Determination or your written objection. However, before new facts are considered, the ALJ must find good cause for considering them and will explain that to you. If you are not prepared to discuss new facts at the hearing, you have a right to request an adjournment to prepare.

At the hearing, you have the right to:

- a. Testify and produce witnesses who testify to the terms of employment and the key events in the case:
- b. Bring an attorney or other person with you to represent you;
- c. Offer documents, records and other evidence into the record, or ask the ALJ to accept documents from the case file into the record:
- d. Ask the ALJ to subpoen documents or witnesses that you are not able to obtain on your own;
- e. Ask questions of (or "cross examine") the claimant and his/her witnesses and any witnesses presented on behalf of the Department of Labor;
- f. Ask the ALJ to assist you if you are having trouble asking questions;
- g. Request an explanation of any question that you do not understand;
- h. Explain or rebut any evidence against you;
- i. Request a delay (or "adjournment") to a later date for a good reason; and
- j. Make a statement at the end of the hearing to explain why you believe the evidence shows that the claimant is not entitled to UI benefits or to explain points which were not raised or clarified during the hearing. If the matter involves liability for UI contributions, you may make a statement to explain why you believe the evidence demonstrates that you are not liable for the UI contributions.

If you offer a document for the record, the ALJ will decide if the document is relevant to the case. Only relevant documents are accepted for the record. You can also ask the ALJ to require the claimant or the Department of Labor to produce documents to support statements made at the hearing.

Employers and claimants have the same rights.

What Happens After the Hearing?

The ALJ will mail to you a written decision informing you of the outcome as soon as possible after the hearing. In the decision, the ALJ will state the facts found based on the evidence. If you do not receive a decision within two weeks, please feel free to follow up by calling the ALJ office in which your hearing was conducted.

If you cannot understand the impact of the decision, you may call the Department of Labor's Telephone Claims Center (TCC) and request an explanation at **1-888-209-8124** or visit the Department of Labor website at **www.labor.ny.gov.**

Employers who have a general UI question can sign in at https://applications.labor.ny.gov with their NY.GOV ID and click on "Messages" to send a secure electronic message to the Department of Labor.

If the ALJ or the Appeal Board determines that the claimant was overpaid benefits, you may be relieved of charges. Please read carefully all notices that are sent to you.

What if I Disagree with the ALJ's Decision?

If you appeared at the hearing, you can appeal the ALJ's decision to the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board. Instructions as to how to appeal are contained on the back of the ALJ decision. Your request must be postmarked within 20 days of the date stamped on the ALJ's decision. The claimant and the Department of Labor may also appeal.

If you did not appear at the hearing, you may request that the ALJ re-open your case. The request to re-open should be made as soon as possible after the missed hearing and submitted in writing to the hearing office. See information on requests to re-open in the section above titled **Can I Delay or Miss the Hearing?**

What Happens When a Decision is Appealed?

After you submit your request for an appeal, you will receive instructions regarding the appeal process, including how to review the transcript and submit a written statement to the Appeal Board which explains why you believe the ALJ's decision is wrong. An attorney or someone else can help you prepare your statement but this is not required. The claimant and the Department of Labor will also be allowed to submit a statement.

The Appeal Board will independently review whether the ALJ's decision is correct. The Appeal Board usually issues a written decision based on all of the evidence contained in the record of the hearing, but it may order a further hearing. You should attend any further hearings to protect your rights.

If the Appeal Board overturns an ALJ's decision which had ruled in the claimant's favor, you may be relieved of charges. Please read carefully all notices that are sent to you.

If the ALJ Decision is in My Favor, Can Someone Else Appeal to the Board?

The claimant may appeal a decision decided in your favor. The Department of Labor may also appeal if it disagrees with the ALJ's decision. You would be allowed to review the transcript and to submit a written statement.

Is Another Appeal Available after the Board makes its Decision?

If the Board issues a decision that is unfavorable to you, you may file an appeal to the New York Supreme Court, Appellate Division, Third Department. Instructions for filing this appeal will appear on the Appeal Board's decision. Further information is available at our website http://uiab.ny.gov

<u>5 Tips for an Unemployment Insurance Hearing:</u> <u>Representing Yourself Pro Se</u>

If you receive a notice that you have an upcoming **Unemployment Insurance Hearing**, you are entitled to have legal representation. However, it may be difficult to secure a representative. If you are unable to obtain representation or choose to represent yourself, here are some important tips to follow:

- 1. Note the date and time of the hearing as of May 2020, all hearings take place over the phone. Make sure you can be available on the date and at the time the hearing will take place. A hearing typically takes around an hour and a half (1.5 hours) but could be longer.
- 2. <u>Prepare for the hearing</u> make sure you read all notices and documents that the Department of Labor sent you. The **case file**, also called your DOL file, will have all information the Department of Labor has regarding your case. It's important to read through this file before the hearing. You may want to write down specific dates related to your case, such as the date you applied for benefits or your last day of work. You will be asked about these dates in your hearing, so it is valuable to refresh yourself of these dates.
- 3. <u>Collect evidence and witnesses</u>— be sure to obtain any relevant document or witness that you wish to use in this hearing. You should submit this document, by fax or mail, 3 days before the hearing. The judge will ask at the beginning of the hearing if you have any witnesses, at which point you may give the judge that witness' phone number. The judge may or may not decide to call the witness—it is up to the judge to determine if that witness has testimony that is important to your case. *Examples of documents you may want to submit include: paystubs, employment contracts, bank statements, or emails, to name a few.*
- 4. <u>Hearing Overview and Etiquette</u> the judge will call the number provided at the time of the hearing. Make sure you are located somewhere with reasonable cell phone reception and minimum background noise. The judge, especially if you are representing yourself, will explain the process of the hearing to you at the beginning. Judges are unbiased in their decisions, but will help you if you are confused about the process. The judge will ask questions about your employment history, claiming unemployment insurance benefits, and questions specifically related to your case. You will have an opportunity to give a final, brief, closing statement. All hearings are recorded, so be sure not to speak over the judge, or any other party at the hearing: speak when spoken to. You may address the judge as "judge" or "your honor." The judge will inform you when the hearing is over.
- 5. <u>After the hearing</u> the judge will mail a decision within 1-2 weeks of the hearing. It's important to read the decision in order to understand your unemployment insurance benefit status. If you disagree with the decision, you have a right to appeal. Directions to appeal are located on the **Notice of Decision.**

<u>Link to Video: How to Prepare for a Hearing</u> (on UIAB Website-Video by ALJ Nicole Beason)

https://uiappeals.ny.gov/prepare-your-hearing-o

Terms Used in Unemployment Insurance Hearings and Appeals

As adapted by the UIAB's document AB 10, dated 11/18

Adjournment: The hearing cannot finish in the time allowed and is rescheduled for another day.

Administrative Law Judge:

The person who conducts an Unemployment Insurance hearing. The judge decides whether to sustain, overrule, or modify an initial determination of benefits.

Affirmed: A conclusion by the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board that the decision of the Hearing Administrative Law Judge is correct.

Appeal: The legal process used by a party who disagrees with the decision of an Administrative Law Judge. The Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board is asked to review one or more issues. The appeal decision is signed by one or more members of the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board.

Appellate Division: A part of New York State's court system. Parties who receive unfavorable decisions from the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board may appeal to the Appellate Division. There are four Appellate Divisions in New York. They cover different geographical areas (referred to as "Departments"). All appeals from decisions of the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board go to the Third Department.

Appearance: A party takes part in the hearing. Parties may testify, question opposing witnesses, review documents that are entered into evidence, and make closing

statements.

Application to Reopen: A party requests a new hearing or asks to reopen an Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board decision.

Arbitration: A type of hearing to decide a dispute between two parties. The decision is made by an independent hearing officer known as an arbitrator. An arbitration decision will often be considered in reaching the Administrative Law Judge or Board decision.

Claim: The process used by an unemployed person to request Unemployment Insurance benefits. A claim may be filed by telephone or by using the Department of Labor's website.

Claimant: A person who has lost a job and applies for Unemployment Insurance benefits.

Closing Statement: An explanation given at the end of the hearing by each party. It states the reasons why that party should receive a favorable decision.

Collateral Estoppel: The effect given to the findings of fact made by an arbitrator. In some situations, an Administrative Law Judge cannot make findings of fact that do not agree with an arbitrator's findings of fact.

Commissioner of Labor: The person in charge of the Department of Labor. This person is responsible for making sure that all sections of the Labor Law, including the Unemployment Insurance law, are

carried out properly. The Commissioner is appointed by the Governor of New York State.

Commissioner of Labor Representative: An employee of the Department of Labor who may appear at a hearing on behalf of the Commissioner of Labor. The representative may present evidence, cross-examine witnesses, and make a closing statement to explain why the initial determination issued by the Department of Labor should be sustained.

Cross-Examination: When one party asks questions of another party or the other party's witnesses. For example, the claimant may question any witness appearing on behalf of the employer or the Commissioner of Labor. The employer may question the claimant and any witness appearing on behalf of the claimant or the Commissioner of Labor. A Commissioner of Labor Representative may question all parties and their witnesses.

Default: When the party who requested the hearing fails to appear. It may also mean the failure of a party to proceed at a hearing because the party does not have an attorney or representative, or a witness or document, that the party feels is necessary to win the case.

Decision: The legal document signed and issued by the Administrative Law Judge after a hearing, or by one or more Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board members after an appeal. The decision will state whether the initial determination by the Department of Labor should be

sustained, overruled, or modified. The decision contains a procedural history, findings of fact, and an analysis of the facts and the law.

Direct Testimony: Statements given at a hearing in response to questioning of each party or party witness by the Administrative Law Judge or a party's representative.

Due Process: The procedures that guarantee that all parties have a fair hearing. The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States guarantee that legal proceedings take place using rules that protect the rights of the parties.

Evidence: Testimony or exhibits presented in a hearing. Evidence that the Administrative Law Judge believes to be factual is used to decide the case in favor of one side or the other.

Exhibits: Evidence in the form of documents, media, or other physical objects.

Employer: A corporation, a partnership of two or more people, a small business, a single proprietor, or a business owner for whom a claimant worked.

Hearing: The proceeding at which evidence is presented to the Administrative Law Judge. The parties who appear are questioned by the judge, their own representatives, and by the opposing party. They may also question the witnesses brought by the opposing party. The judge will reach a decision based on evidence. The judge will decide whether the initial determination by the Department of

Labor should be sustained, overruled, or modified.

Hearsay: Evidence that someone read or was told about an incident but did not actually see or hear it.

Initial Determination: The document issued by the Department of Labor that concerns a specific legal issue and decides whether a claimant is or is not eligible for Unemployment Insurance benefits.

Labor Services Representative:

An employee who decides on behalf of the Department of Labor whether a claimant will be allowed or denied Unemployment Insurance benefits. The Labor Services Representative may testify at a hearing about telephone interviews and email exchanges with the claimant or the employer.

Modified: A decision by an Administrative Law Judge that the initial determination should be sustained in part and overruled in part. It may also be a decision by the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board that the Administrative Law Judge's decision is partially correct and should be affirmed in part and reversed in part.

Overruled: A decision by an Administrative Law Judge that the initial determination was incorrect and should not remain in effect.

Party: A person or business that will be affected by the hearing results. The three parties that may participate in an Unemployment Insurance hearing are the claimant,

the employer, and the Commissioner of Labor.

Remand: A decision made by an Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board member to send the case back to the Hearing Administrative Law Judge for another hearing.

Representative: The person at the hearing who speaks to the Administrative Law Judge and questions witnesses on behalf of a party. Claimants may be represented by an attorney, although that is not a requirement. The employer may be represented by an attorney or by a company that represents employers in government matters. Or, the employer may be represented by one of its own employees, such as an employee from the personnel or human resources office.

Reversed: A conclusion by the Unemployment Insurance Appeal Board member or members that the decision of the Administrative Law Judge was not correct.

Sequester: To separate witnesses. If a party produces two or more witnesses, only the witness that is testifying will be allowed to remain in the hearing room. Other witnesses will be sent to a waiting area until it is their time to testify. The witnesses are separated so that they do not influence each other's testimony.

Subpoena: A legal document that directs an individual or business that is not a party to the hearing to produce a document for the hearing. It may also direct a specific person to testify at the hearing. The subpoena is

signed by the Administrative Law Judge.

Sustained: A decision by an Administrative Law Judge that the initial determination was correct and should remain ineffect.

Testimony: Statements given by parties or party witnesses under oath or affirmation.

Unemployment Insurance
Appeal Board: An independent
board made up of five members who
are appointed by the Governor of
New York State. The Board decides
appeals that are taken from the
decisions made by its Administrative
Law Judges.

Witness: A person, other than a party, who testifies at a hearing.